RECEIVED

Mar 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001678

Michelle N. GardnerRespondent,

v.

Ernest J. Gardner, Jr., Individually and as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Jason F. Gardner.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Scott W. Hutto
Hutto Law Firm, P.A.
PO Box 556
Georgetown, SC 29442
Attorney for Ernest J. Gardner, Jr.,
as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Jason F. Gardner

AND

Kenneth B. Wingate
Matthew J. Myers
Sweeny, Wingate & Barrow, P.A.
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in reversing the Probate Court and ruling that Appellant Ernest J. Gardner, Jr., individually, failed to make a timely creditor's claim against the Estate of Jason F. Gardner?
- II. Did the Probate Court err in purporting to grant Respondent Michelle N. Gardner's motion for partial summary judgment with regard to Jason F. Gardner's retirement accounts, and did the Circuit Court err in affirming the Probate Court?
- III. Did Respondent Michelle N. Gardner's express waiver of "any and all right, title, interest or claim she has, had, or may have" in decedent Jason F. Gardner's retirement accounts pursuant to their divorce settlement preclude Respondent from recovering the proceeds of such accounts if payable to his estate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal originates with the filing of a creditor's claim for unpaid alimony by Respondent Michelle N. Gardner (the "Respondent") against the Estate of Jason F. Gardner, Respondent's former husband (the "Decedent"). (R. p. __). Shortly thereafter, Appellant Ernest J. Gardner, Jr. (the "Appellant"), in his individual capacity, filed a creditor's claim against Decedent's Estate for the outstanding balance of an unpaid loan due to him. (R. p. __). Respondent's claim was denied by the Decedent's Estate (R. p. __); however, pursuant to the order of the Probate Court dated March 8, 2019, Respondent's claim was determined to be valid. (R. p. __). Respondent filed a subsequent action in Probate Court primarily seeking payment of her claim. (R. p. __). After the filing of responsive pleadings, Respondent and Appellant filed competing motions for partial summary judgment. (R. pp. ____). A hearing on the motions was held by the Probate Court on August 22, 2019. On December 10, 2019, the Probate Court issued

its order which ruled that (i) Appellant's creditor claim was timely filed and (ii) the waivers signed by Respondent in her divorce agreement with Decedent were not a bar to her recovery from Decedent's Estate or the retirement account payable to his Estate. (R. p. __).

Respondent appealed the Probate Court's ruling that Appellant's creditor's claim was timely (R. p. __), and Appellant appealed the Probate Court's rulings regarding Respondent's waiver of rights to Decedent's retirement account. (R. p. __). The cross-appeals were consolidated by order dated January 27, 2020 (R. p. __), and the Circuit Court heard arguments on October 30, 2020. The Circuit Court issued its order dated November 23, 2020 in which it (i) overturned the Probate Court's ruling concerning Appellant's creditor's claim, finding Appellant's claim to be untimely; and (ii) upheld the Probate Court's ruling that Respondent did not waive her right to pursue collection of her creditor's claim against Decedent's retirement plan benefits payable to his estate. (R. p. __).

On December 21, 2020, Appellant, individually and as Personal Representative of Decedent's Estate, filed a Notice of Appeal in the Court of Appeals. (R. p. __). Appellant seeks a reversal of that portion of the Circuit Court's order, dated November 23, 2020, which overturned the Probate Court's ruling that Appellant, individually, timely filed his creditor's claim against Decedent's Estate. Appellant also seeks reversal of those portions of the Circuit Court's order, dated November 23, 2020, and the Probate Court's order, dated December 10, 2019, purporting to grant Respondent partial summary judgment with regard Decedent's retirement accounts, and finding that Respondent's waiver of future claims against Decedent's retirement accounts does not bar her from collecting the same from Decedent's Estate as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in this appeal are not in dispute and are consistent with the findings made by the probate court in its order dated December 10, 2019, which are repeated verbatim except for providing additional footnotes for further context, and the use of the terms Decedent, Appellant, and Respondent in lieu of actual names:

1. The Decedent died testate on October 17, 2016.
2. Appellant is
 - a. Decedent's father;
 - b. the duly appointed, qualified and acting Personal Representative of the Estate;
 - c. the sole devisee of the Estate.
3. Appellant filed a claim on August 7, 2017 for funds allegedly owed to him by the Decedent.¹
4. Respondent is the former wife of the Decedent.
5. Respondent filed a claim on July 10, 2017.²
6. Respondent and the Decedent divorced on December 6, 2011.
7. The divorce decree approved and incorporated a Custody, Property and Support Settlement Agreement dated December 2, 2011 (hereinafter "the Divorce Agreement").

¹ Appellant Ernest J. Gardner, individually, filed his Statement of Creditor's Claim on August 7, 2017, in the amount of \$228,662.27 plus interest for the outstanding balance of the loan made to Decedent (R. p. ____).

² By Order of the Probate Court dated March 8, 2019, Respondent Michelle N. Gardner's claim for lump sum alimony was allowed. Respondent's Statement of Creditor's Claim was in the amount of \$336,000; however, the Probate Court allowed the claim in the amount of \$328,000, payable by the Estate at a monthly rate of \$8,000 for forty-one months (Order dated March 8, 2019, p. 10). The Probate Court specifically withheld its ruling on the "sufficiency, availability or applicability of funds to pay this Claim." (Order dated March 8, 2019, p. 10).

8. Respondent and the Decedent entered into three (3) modifications to the Divorce Agreement.
9. The last modification to the divorce agreement was adopted and incorporated into a Court Order on November 15, 2013 (hereinafter the “November 2013 Decree”).³
10. The November 2013 Decree directed that all provisions of the divorce agreement not specifically modified would remain in full force and effect.
11. The divorce agreement contained two waivers which were neither modified nor replaced in any subsequent modification, as follows⁴:
 - a. [Respondent] waives and releases any and all right, title, interest or claim she has, had or may have to [Decedent’s] retirement accounts⁵. (Article III B. 5.)
 - b. “Each party expressly releases all right to share in the estate of the other party, whether by will, intestacy, or statutory elective share...” (Article VII).

³ For purposes of this matter, the only relevant modifications to the Divorce Agreement are set forth in the final modification.

⁴ The Divorce Agreement included numerous additional waivers which, as discussed in Section III, *infra*, are not directly dispositive to this matter but which aid in construing the retirement account waiver.

⁵ Decedent’s specific retirement accounts are enumerated in the waiver. The 2011 Decree lists Decedent’s retirement accounts, including a Merrill Lynch/Sorin 401(k). The administrator for the Merrill Lynch/Sorin 401(k) was transferred from Merrill Lynch to Fidelity Investments on or about March 19, 2012. On December 30, 2016, Decedent’s 401(k) was transferred to LivaNova US Employee Retirement Savings Plan which is still managed by Fidelity Investments. This account is currently listed as “LivaNova Fidelity 401(k)” on the Estate’s Amended Inventory & Appraisement dated and filed on August 31, 2018. Since Decedent’s death, no funds have been withdrawn from the LivaNova Fidelity 401(k). Appellant has filed a separate action seeking a declaratory judgment that Decedent substantially complied with the change of beneficiary provisions under ERISA naming Appellant as the direct beneficiary of the LivaNova Fidelity 401(k).

12. The standard “Notice to Creditors” was published in the Georgetown Times newspaper once per week for three consecutive weeks.
13. The Notice to Creditors contained the warning of the potential bar should a claim not be filed within eight (8) months following the first publication.
14. The Notice to Creditors was first published on November 11, 2016.
15. The Probate Court coordinated the Notice to Creditors publication as is typical in Georgetown County.
16. The Creditor’s Claims period contemplated by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(a) expired on July 11, 2017.
17. Appellant shares the roles of Personal Representative, sole devisee and creditor.
18. Appellant is a known creditor with actual notice.
19. Appellant, as Personal Representative, was paying the debt owed him by the Estate before Respondent filed her Creditor’s Claim (filed on July 10, 2017) and before Appellant filed his Creditor’s Claim (filed on August 7, 2017).⁶
20. On December 15, 2016, then counsel for Appellant mailed counsel for Respondent a copy of the Georgetown Times’ Affidavit of Publication of Notice to Creditors and copied Appellant via e-mail.

⁶ The Probate Court did not rule on the appropriateness of these payments as there was a need for additional evidence before such determination could be made. (Order dated December 10, 2019, p. 4, footnote 3).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below.” In re Estate of Gurnham, 407 S.C. 194, 754 S.E.2d 875 (2014) (quotation omitted). “An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.” Univ. of S. Cal. v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005). “The cardinal rule for statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature.” Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). “When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” Id. Further, “the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” S.C. Ports Auth. v. Jasper County, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006).

The construction of a separation agreement is a matter of contract law. McDuffie v. McDuffie, 313 S.C. 397, 438 S.E.2d 239 (1993). “[W]hen a contract is clear and unambiguous, the construction thereof is a question of law for the court.” Bowen v. Bowen, 345 S.C. 243, 249, 547 S.E.2d 877, 880 (Ct. App. 2001), *aff’d*, 352 S.C. 494, 575 S.E.2d 553 (2003). “A court will look to extrinsic evidence only if an ambiguity exists in the agreement’s terms. Whether the language of a contract is ambiguous is a question of law to be determined by the court.” Gaffney v. Gaffney, 401 S.C. 216, 222, 736 S.E.2d 683, 687 (Ct. App. 2012) (citations omitted). “While a trial court’s findings of fact in a nonjury action at law should not be disturbed on appeal unless they are without evidentiary support, a reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” Hunt v. S.C. Forestry Comm’n, 358 S.C. 564, 569, 595 S.E.2d 846, 848-49 (Ct. App. 2004).

Summary judgment is appropriate only when it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact and the conclusions and inferences to be drawn from the facts are undisputed. Garvin v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 343 S.C. 625, 628, 541 S.E.2d 831, 833 (2001). Summary judgment is inappropriate, however, where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of law. Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation, 337 S.C. 476, 484, 523 S.E.2d 795, 799 (Ct. App. 1999). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists so as to preclude summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n, 332 S.C. 54, 61, 504 S.E.2d 117, 121 (1998). "Because summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial." Pallares v. Seinar, 407 S.C. 359, 365, 756 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2014).

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. Appellant Ernest J. Gardner, Jr., individually, timely filed his creditor's claim against the Estate of Jason F. Gardner.

A. History of South Carolina Code Section 62-3-801 and 62-3-803. Title 62 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, also known as the South Carolina Probate Code, became effective July 1, 1987. Upon its adoption, Section 62-3-801, Notice to Creditors, provided for notice to creditors by publication only, and the creditor's claims period for claims arising before death ended four months after the date of first publication. Section 62-3-803, Limitations on the Presentation of Claims, was also quite different in its original form, and it provided (i) a one year claims period for claims founded in tort (if notice to creditors was published), (ii) a four month period for claims founded on contract or other legal basis (if notice to creditors was published),

and (iii) a three year claims period for claims founded in contract, tort, or other legal basis if notice to creditors has not been published. 1986 Act No. 539, § 1.

In 1987, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801 was amended to increase the claims period for claims arising before death from “four” months to “eight” months. 1987 Act No. 171, § 31. Section 62-3-803 was also amended to decrease the one year claims period for torts to “eight” months, deleted sub-paragraph (a)(2) and reworded and renumbered the remaining paragraphs (a)(3). 1987 S.C. Act No. 171, § 33.

In 1988, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its opinion in Tulsa Professional Collection Services, Inc. v. Pope, 485 U.S. 478, 108 S.Ct. 1340, 99 L.Ed.2d 565 (1988). The Supreme Court considered an Oklahoma nonclaims statute similar to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)(2) and the publication requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(a). Like S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)(2), the Oklahoma nonclaim statute only required notice by publication. The Supreme Court found that the probate court’s “intimate involvement” through the probate process – specifically the activation of the nonclaims period by the appointment of the personal representative – constituted state action triggering the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause. As a result, the Court held that if a creditor’s identity was known or “reasonably ascertainable,” due process requires that the creditor be given actual notice, by mail or other means, before terminating the creditor’s property rights. Id. at 491.

The decision in Tulsa had “significant impact on probate procedures throughout the country.” Nicole Losacco, *Probate: Notice to Estate Creditors: The Effect of Tulsa Professional Collection Services v. Pope*, 42 Okla. L. Rev. 325 (1989). The South Carolina legislature, like the legislatures of many states, reviewed and modified its creditor claims statutes in response to the U.S. Supreme Court’s ruling. See 1990 Act No. 521, §§ 51 and 53.

In 1990, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801 was amended to allow a personal representative to give written notice to any creditor to present his or her claim within eight months from the published notice or sixty days from the mailing or delivery of such notice, whichever was later. 1990 Act No. 521, § 51. Section 62-3-803 was also amended to clarify and distinguish the applicable claims periods for “creditors who are given actual notice” as compared to “creditors barred by publication.” 1990 Act No. 521, § 53. After the 1990 amendments, a “creditor given actual notice” had 60 days from mailing or delivery of said notice, or until the end of the eight-month published notice period, whichever was later, to file his or her creditor’s claim.

Finally, in 2014, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(b) was amended to extend the claims period for creditors who are given written notice from “eight months from published notice” to “one year of decedent’s death” and substituting “whichever is earlier” for “whichever is later.” 2013 S.C. Act No. 100 § 1.

Since the 2014 amendments, Section 62-3-803(a) reads, in relevant part, as follows (emphasis added):

- (a) All claims against a decedent’s estate, which arose before the decedent’s death, ..., if not barred by another statute of limitations or nonclaim statute, are barred against the estate,...; unless presented within the earlier of the following:
 - (1) one year after decedent’s death; or
 - (2) the **time provided by Section 62-3-801(b) for creditors who are given actual notice**, and within the time provided by Section 62-3-801(a) for all creditors barred by publication.

In addition, since the 2014 amendments, Section 62-3-801(b) reads, in relevant part, as follows (emphasis added):

- (b) A personal representative may give written notice by mail or other delivery to any creditor, notifying the creditor to present his claim within **one year of the decedent’s death**, or **within sixty days from the mailing or other delivery of such notice**, whichever is earlier, or be forever barred.

Section 62-3-803(a)(1) is self-executing and begins running upon the death of the decedent. (Order dated December 10, 2019, p. 5). It does not require any action by the state, and it does not require notice or publication to or for the benefit of any creditor. (Id. at p. 5). Therefore, such a statute does not implicate due process concerns.

Section 62-3-803(a)(2), on the other hand, requires state involvement in order to commence the nonclaims period, *i.e.*, as the Probate Court succinctly put it, “the court has appointed a Personal Representative who has published a Notice to Creditors or has provided actual notice to a known creditor.” (Order dated December 10, 2019, p. 5).

In addition to the changes discussed above, the 2014 amendments to the South Carolina Probate Code also modified S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-806, providing the personal representative with the later of 60 days from presentment of a claim or fourteen months from the decedent’s death to allow or disallow a creditor’s claim. Clearly, the South Carolina legislature, by enacting this provision, could envision estates being open and under administration well beyond the claims periods set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-3-801 and 803. Furthermore, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-3-1001, 1002 and 1003, along with Probate Form #412ES – Application for Settlement – require the personal representative to have filed all tax returns (income, fiduciary income, and estate) prior to closing the decedent’s estate. Consequently, it is difficult to imagine that the legislature, in providing additional time for known creditors to file claims, would see this as a significant burden on an estate in light of the multiple other issues to be resolved prior to closing.

Unlike other states, to address due process concerns, South Carolina did not mandate the mailing of notice to known or “reasonably ascertainable” creditors. In balancing the due process rights of creditors and the desire for speedy and efficient administration of estates, the South Carolina Legislature decided to provide a choice for personal representatives dealing with known

or “reasonably ascertainable” creditors: the personal representative may (i) provide written notice to the creditor pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(b) (reducing the claims period to 60 days) or (ii) allow the time provided under South Carolina’s self-executing statute, *i.e.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)(1), to expire (*i.e.*, one year from decedent’s death). Either choice satisfies the due process concerns raised by *Tulsa* and bars the creditor’s right to bring a claim after the expiration of the applicable time period.

It is important to note that not all creditors are required to be treated the same. For example, a personal representative may decide to provide written notice pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(b) to one known creditor, but not another. Furthermore, if a personal representative gives written notice to a known creditor early in the estate administration, that particular creditor will have a substantially shorter claims period than (i) an unknown creditor (*i.e.*, 60 days vs. eight months from date of publication) or (ii) a known creditor without written notice (*i.e.*, 60 days vs. one year from date of death). As a result, the South Carolina legislature did not focus on the “fairness” of the length of the claims period applicable to each creditor, but rather on a discretionary system, managed by the personal representative, to balance the due process rights of creditors and the efficient administration of the estate.

B. Appellant was a known creditor given actual notice pursuant to S.C. Code § 62-3-803(a)(2) and entitled to the claims period provided under S.C. Code § 62-3-801(b).

The Probate Court found that Appellant was a known creditor with actual notice as a result of his dual role of Personal Representative and creditor. (Order dated December 10, 2019, p. 6). Furthermore, the Probate Court found Appellant to be a creditor who received written notice as a result of receiving a copy of the Affidavit of Publication of Notice to Creditors. (Order

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