**RECEIVED**

**May 05 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons

---

C.A. No.: 2019-CP-22-01226

C.A. No.: 2019-CP-22-01239

C.A. No.: 2019-CP-22-01245

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001678

---

Michelle N. Gardner .....Respondent

v.

Ernest J. Gardner, Jr., individually and as Personal  
Representative of the Estate of Jason F. Gardner .....Appellant

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Sarah P. Spruill, SC Bar # 68337  
HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.  
ONE North Main, 2nd Floor  
P.O. Box 2048 (29602)  
Greenville, SC 29601-2772

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Dr. Gardner’s claim is time barred.**

This appeal involves the construction of the South Carolina nonclaim statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803. There is no dispute that if a creditor “fails to timely present a claim in compliance with the nonclaim statute, the creditor’s right of action against the estate is barred.”

*In re Estate of Hover*, 407 S.C. 194, 205, 754 S.E.2d 875, 881 (2014). The issue here is whether Dr. Gardner’s August 7, 2017 claim was timely.

Dr. Gardner, as the Personal Representative, was in the single best position of any potential creditor to make a prompt claim. Without question, he had actual notice. (Probate Court Order at 6, R. at \_\_\_\_).<sup>8</sup>

The Probate Court’s ruling excused his failure to make a claim until August 2017, reasoning that the nonclaim statute gives any creditor whose identity is known to the personal representative one year following the decedent’s death to file a claim. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). In effect, the Probate Court ruled that a creditor known to the Personal Representative cannot be barred by publication, no matter how intimately or actually aware the creditor is of the published claims-barring notice. The Probate Court ruled as follows, “[t]he fact that a known creditor who is given actual notice [of the Estate’s proceedings] is also given written notice which includes an eight month publications deadline does not convert that creditor into one barred by publication. . . .” (Order at 7, R. at \_\_\_\_). The Circuit Court disagreed and reversed this ruling, finding that Dr. Gardner’s claim was barred for failure to file a timely claim. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_).

The nonclaim statute provides in part as follows:

a) All claims against a decedent’s estate which arose before the death of the decedent, . . . , whether due or to become due, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, founded on contract, tort, or other legal basis, if not barred earlier by another statute of limitations or nonclaim statute; are barred against the estate, the personal representative, the decedent’s heirs and devisees, and nonprobate transferees of the decedent; **unless presented within the earlier of the following:**

---

<sup>8</sup> Therefore, there are no due process concerns in this case. Dr. Gardner makes much of *Tulsa Prof’l Collections Servs. v. Pope*, 485 U.S. 478 (1988) in his brief. Nothing about *Tulsa* directly implicates the construction of the South Carolina nonclaim statute. Instead, the rule from *Tulsa* is very simply that if appellant’s identity as a creditor was known or “reasonably ascertainable,” then the Due Process Clause requires that appellant be given “[n]otice by mail or other means as certain to ensure actual notice.” *Id.* at 491.

- (1) one year after the decedent's death; or
- (2) the time provided by Section 62-3-801(b) for creditors who are given actual notice, and within the time provided in Section 62-3-801(a) for all creditors barred by publication. . .

(emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801 states in pertinent part:

(a) **Unless notice has already been given under this section**, a personal representative upon his appointment must publish a notice to creditors once a week for three successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the county announcing his appointment and address and notifying creditors of the estate to present their claims within eight months after the date of the first publication of the notice or be forever barred.

(b) A personal representative may give written notice by mail or other delivery to any creditor, notifying the creditor to present his claim within one year of the decedent's death, or within sixty days from the mailing or other delivery of such notice, whichever is earlier, or be forever barred. Written notice is the notice described in (a) above or a similar notice.

(emphasis added).

These provisions must be construed in light of the directives of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-102 and its mandate that the Probate Code “shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies[,]” which include “(3) to promote a **speedy and efficient system** for liquidating the estate of the decedent and making distribution to his successors[.]”

(emphasis added). These statutes all suggest closing the claims period earlier, rather than later.

Generally,

Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below. The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature. When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning. In interpreting a statute, words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. Further, the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.

*In re Estate of Hover*, 407 S.C. at 203-04, 754 S.E.2d at 879 (citations and quotations omitted). South Carolina courts “will not construe a statute in a way which leads to an absurd result or renders it meaningless.” *Florence Cty. Democratic Party v. Florence Cty. Republican Party*, 398 S.C. 124, 128, 727 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2012). In addition, the nonclaim statute must be construed consistent with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801 and the rest of the Probate Code. “Statutes in pari materia . . . have to be construed together and reconciled, if possible, so as to render both operative.” *Lewis v. Gaddy*, 254 S.C. 66, 70, 173 S.E.2d 376, 378 (1970).

When these statutes are viewed together, it becomes apparent that if notice has been given by publication pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(a), the eight month bar will apply “unless notice has already been given under this section” as of the date of publication. The quoted language refers to the alternate notice provision, not relevant to this appeal, pursuant to which the personal representative may serve a creditor with written notice to file its claim within sixty days, or prior to the first anniversary of the decedent’s death, whichever is earlier. This language only has meaning if it references notice previously given under some other subsection of § 62-3-801, such as § 62-3-801(b). If notice has already been given under § 62-3-801(b), the provisions of that section will apply, and the deadline is “one year of the decedent’s death, or within sixty days from the mailing or other delivery of such notice, *whichever is earlier*.” (Emphasis added). Otherwise, the claims “will be barred within the time provided in Section 62-3-801(a) for all creditors barred by publication.” As found by the Circuit Court,

The Probate Court’s ruling rested on the use of the term “actual notice” in § 62-3-803(a)(2), finding that § 62-3-801(b) would apply in any case where a creditor had some notice of estate proceedings and that a creditor with any notice could not be barred by publication. The Court finds the better construction is that the “actual notice” referenced in § 62-3-803(a)(2) is the specific sixty day notice of § 62-3-801(b).

(Order at 6, R. at \_\_\_\_).

This interpretation is consistent with the Reporter’s Comments to the nonclaim statute, which state, “[c]laims arising before death, unless barred by other statutes of limitation, are barred unless presented as follows: (1) for those creditors not barred by publication within the earlier of one year following date of death or sixty days from any actual notice; and (2) for those creditors barred by publication within the earlier of one year from date of death or eight months from any publication.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803 (Reporter’s Comment).

The intent of the statute is that the publication of notice applies to all creditors as reflected on the approved probate court form for “Notice to Creditors.” Form 370ES, SCRPC (“All persons having claims against the following estate **MUST** file their claims . . . within eight (8) months after the date of publication of this Notice to Creditors or within one (1) year from date of death, whichever is earlier . . .”). This language mirrors S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801, which does not limit its application to unknown creditors, but rather applies to all creditors unless “notice has already been given.” This construction provides clear guidance to creditors: all are bound by the published eight month notice unless the specific, alternative sixty day notice described in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(b) has been given.

Dr. Gardner wants to completely separate S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801(a) from § 62-3-801(b). In doing so, he ignores the plain language of the statute as emphasized above. Section 62-3-801(a) expressly contemplates that § 62-3-801(a) applies unless notice has already been given under § 62-3-801. Moreover, § 62-3-801(b) provides that the notice can be in the form provided in § 62-3-801(a). Thus, nothing in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-801 prevents a known creditor with actual notice from being barred by publication for purposes of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803.

The statutes speak for themselves. Dr. Gardner's argument relating to the amendment history of § 62-3-801 is unavailing because the legislature could have easily amended § 62-3-801(a) to clarify that it only referred to notice under that subsection at the same time § 62-3-801(b) was added. The legislature did not do so. Therefore, the plain language must be followed, such that § 62-3-801(a) applies unless notice has already been given through some other means under § 62-3-801.

The problem with the construction urged by Dr. Gardner and adopted by the Probate Court is highlighted in the following discussion from the Circuit Court:

In contrast to the clear deadlines applicable under this construction of the nonclaim statute, the Probate Court found that there are different filing periods depending upon whether the creditor's identity is known to the personal representative and the creditor had some notice an estate had been opened (in which case the creditor supposedly has one year to file) or whether the creditor was unknown or did not have notice an estate had been opened (in which case the creditor supposedly has eight months following publication to file). In effect, the Probate Court's ruling renders the publication notice a nullity for any known creditor with notice of an estate. This ruling leads to the bizarre result that the people with the most knowledge of the estate proceedings get the longest filing period unless they have been provided the shorter sixty-day notice. This case presents the most extreme example of why this construction makes no sense—Dr. Gardner, as Personal Representative and publisher of the claims notice, is not bound by his own publication deadline and would get more time to file his own claim than creditors who are completely unaware of the Estate proceedings. That cannot have been the intent of the General Assembly.

(Order at 7, R. at \_\_\_\_).

Dr. Gardner was aware of the existence of his claim and of the requirement that it be filed within eight months following the first run of the notice. He simply failed to file a timely claim. This Circuit Court found that Dr. Gardner's claim should be held to the same standard he advertised to others. As a result, the Circuit Court correctly found that Dr. Gardner's claim was not filed timely and is barred.

**II. Ms. Gardner’s allowed claim should be paid from the Estate’s assets, regardless of the source of those assets.**

The Decedent and Ms. Gardner were divorced by order dated December 6, 2011. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). The agreements executed in conjunction with their divorce speak for themselves (collectively, the “Divorce Agreement”). With respect to lump sum alimony, the Divorce Agreement provided:

In lieu of the alimony set forth in Paragraph 1.B. of the Custody, Property and Support Settlement Agreement filed December 6, 2011, Husband agrees to pay Wife lump sum alimony as set forth herein. Husband shall pay directly to Wife the sum of Eight Thousand Dollars (\$8,000.00) per month, as and for non-refundable lump sum alimony, commencing on November 1, 2013, and payable on the first of each month thereafter for a period of seventy-eight (78) months. These payments shall be paid by automatic bank draft by Husband into Wife’s account of her choosing, and Wife shall provide Husband with all necessary bank account information to effect this monthly transfer. These payments are non-modifiable and will not terminate upon the remarriage of Wife or Wife’s cohabitation as set forth under South Carolina law. These payments shall be taxable to wife and deductible to Husband.

(Agreement incorporated by reference in the November 2013 Decree at Section II “Spousal Support”; March 8 Order at Findings of Fact ¶ 4, R. at \_\_\_\_).

Ms. Gardner’s claim here is as an allowed creditor with respect to the Decedent’s lump sum alimony obligation. (March 8, 2019 Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). Ms. Gardner has not made any claim on any retirement account held by the Decedent. Instead, she has made a claim against the Estate seeking the benefit of her bargain as to lump sum alimony. The Probate Court confirmed that she had a right to make that claim in the March 8 order, which is not on appeal and is the law of the case.

Dr. Gardner’s appeal to the Circuit Court was limited to whether Ms. Gardner had waived her right to recover from Decedent’s retirement account payable to Decedent’s Estate. (Brief at 7, R. at \_\_\_\_). He raised general waiver and summary judgment principles. (Brief at 7-13, R. at

\_\_\_\_). To the extent that Dr. Gardner seeks to add additional arguments in his appeal to this Court, those arguments are not preserved for review as they were neither raised to nor ruled on by either the Probate Court or the Circuit Court. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (holding that to be preserved for appellate review, an argument must have been raised to and ruled on by the trial court).<sup>9</sup>

Ms. Gardner does not disagree with the general statements of contract law presented by Dr. Gardner. The result would be very different if she had made a claim on a retirement account—she did waive any rights to make a claim on those accounts in the Divorce Agreement and she has not made any claim against the Decedent’s retirement accounts.

Dr. Gardner fails to acknowledge, however, that the Divorce Agreement also includes an agreement for lump sum alimony and that Ms. Gardner has to the right to enforce her benefit of that bargain through a claim against the Estate. Ms. Gardner does not care what those assets are as long as her claim is paid.

Per the South Carolina Probate Code, “[e]state” includes the property of the decedent, trust, or other person whose affairs are subject to this Code as originally constituted and as it exists from time to time during administration.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201. With respect to an allowed claim, such as Ms. Gardner’s, payment shall be made from the Estate “in the order of priority prescribed, and after making provision for the homestead, for exempt property under Section 62-2-401, for claims already presented which have not been allowed or whose disallowance is the subject of a legal proceeding, or the time to file such a proceeding has not

---

<sup>9</sup> By way of example, Argument III of Dr. Gardner’s brief includes new analogy to creditor/debtor rights, a new argument relating to whether Ms. Gardner waived her “expectancy interest” in any retirement account, and a new theory of promissory estoppel. None of these arguments, however, change the analysis under the Probate Code as to the payment of Ms. Gardner’s allowed claim.

expired, and for unbarred claims which may yet be presented, including costs and expenses of administration.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-807(a). Priority is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-805. It is under these provisions that Ms. Gardner seeks payment. The fact that the proceeds of a retirement account may be included among the Estate’s assets does not change her claim against the Estate or her right to payment under these statutes.

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